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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	ANTHONY W. WEGENER, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                            Applicant

                                                   v. 

MT. VIEW CAR WASH, INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                            Defendants.

	)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
	          FINAL

          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200305519
        AWCB Decision No.  05-0247

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         on September  28 , 2005


On April 13, 2005, in Anchorage, Alaska, the Board heard the employee’s petition for a second independent medical evaluation (“SIME”).  The employee represented himself.  Attorney Trena Heikes represented the employer and insurer (“employer”).  The Board entered an oral order continuing the hearing and held the record open for submission of a transcript of the employer’s deposition of the employee’s treating physician, and for submission of an addendum report to include the employer’s physician’s opinions regarding the employee’s activities in the surveillance video introduced at hearing, and the physical capacities evaluation report issued by John DeCarlo on October 7, 2004.  The employee submitted his closing brief on August 22, 2005, and the employer submitted its closing brief on August 26, 2005.  The record closed when the Board next met on August 30, 2005.


ISSUE
Shall the Board order a SIME under AS 23.30.095(k)?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
The recitation of facts shall be limited to those necessary to determine the narrow issue of whether the Board shall order a SIME in this case.  The evidence of this case is fully detailed in the “Summary of the Evidence" section of the Board’s April 27, 2005 Decision and Order.
  We here incorporate that discussion by reference, and summarize it below.  

I.  MEDICAL HISTORY

On April 1, 2003, while working as a car wash attendant for the employer, the employee was the subject of a hit and run car incident, causing the employee arm and hand strain, and back pain.
  The employee was treated in the emergency room at Alaska Regional Hospital on April 2, 2003.  The employee's right neck and shoulder showed no evidence of trauma or ecchymosis; and the employee had no skin abrasions.  Aside from pain, the employee’s range of motion was full, and he was distally and neurovascularly intact.
  The employee was diagnosed with right neck and shoulder strain.
  

The employee followed up with Betty Bang, F.N.P., on April 4, 2003, and complained of right shoulder, arm and wrist pain; with tingling, aching, and sharp pain in his right hand, disabling its use.  Ms. Bang noted that the employee removed his T-shirt with great difficulty and cries of pain; however, he had full range of motion in his shoulder and wrist.  She noted an area of ecchymosis on the top of the employee's right shoulder, swelling to the right hand, and ecchymosis on the top of the right hand.  Ms. Bang diagnosed right shoulder and wrist strain.

On April 7, 2003, Ms. Bang found full range of motion in the employee's wrist and right shoulder, but noted that he grimaced with pain.  She indicated the pain in his right hand had decreased.  Ms. Bang referred to employee to physical therapy for evaluation and a treatment plan.

X-rays of the employee’s cervical, thoracic and lumbar spine were taken on April 8, 2003.  The cervical spine x-ray revealed a slight straightening of the normal curvature; however disc spaces and alignment were otherwise normal and soft tissue planes were intact.  There was no neural foraminal encroachment.  The impression was some loss of normal curvature, consistent with muscle spasm.  Thoracic spine x-ray showed the dorsal vertebral bodies intact, neither lytic nor blastic lesions defined; and no compression fractures or paravertebral soft tissue abnormalities were apparent.  Impression was normal thoracic spine.  The lumbar spine x-ray revealed alignment was normal, disc spaces were normal, and there was no significant degenerative changes or evidence of any acute bony abnormality.  The impression was negative lumbar spine.

Dr. Strickland treated the employee on a regular basis.  On April 16, 2003, she estimated the length of further treatment to be “three days, two weeks, and 11 months.” 
  Dr. Strickland indicated the employee was not medically stable; however, he was released to return to modified work as of April 8, 2003, with no lifting or working with his right arm.

A MRI
 of the employee's right shoulder was taken on April 22, 2003.  The findings and impression indicated nothing of clinical significance.  There was no evidence of rotator cuff tear; minimal acromioclavicular osetoarthorpathy but with low risk for impingement; and no labral or capsular abnormality.

On April 29, 2003, x-rays of the employee’s right shoulder were normal.  There was no evidence of fracture, dislocation, or other bony or soft tissue abnormality.

A May 1, 2003 MRI of the employee’s cervical spine demonstrated straightening and slight reversal of the cervical lordosis.  However, no disc herniations existed, and there was no central or foraminal spinal stenosis.  The cord was intrinsically normal.  The findings were consistent with muscular spasm, and the study was otherwise unremarkable.

On May 27, 2003, the employee was seen by Michael G. McNamara, M.D., on consult for Dr. Strickland, for evaluation of treatment options for the employee's upper extremity pain and symptoms.  Upon examination, 
Dr. McNamara found:

His right shoulder guards to full flexion.  He has a positive Neer and Hawkins impingement.  He has 5 out of 5 external rotation motor strength and 5 out of 5 supraspinatus muscle tendon testing.  Nontender AC joint.  He is neurovascularly intact and is firing all three aspects of his deltoid.  He has no instability symptoms.  His neck shows full range of motion without any guarding and negative Spurlings.  His right elbow shows mild tenderness of his cubital tunnel, but compression does not cause any provocative numbness or tingling.

Review of his MRI of his neck and his shoulder is essentially unremarkable without any evidence of disc or rotator cuff pathology.

Dr. McNamara's assessment was right upper extremity symptoms likely secondary to muscle strains and mild impingement.  He indicated the employee may have a mild cubital tunnel.  He recommended referral to 
Joella Beard, M.D., to assist with nerve conduction and velocity studies to rule out a cubital tunnel, and to assist with returning the employee to work.  Dr. McNamara also referred the employee to Alaska Hand Rehabilitation to assist with shoulder protocol for impingement and cubital tunnel on the right.

An evaluation of the employee was conducted at Alaska Hand Rehabilitation on June 2 and 5, 2003.  
Marc Whitman, PT, CHT, found the employee’s range of motion in the cervical spine mildly limited with guarding, but radicular signs were not present.  There were positive impingement signs in the employee's right shoulder, and mild tenderness with palpation of the right cubital tunnel, but negative elbow flexion and Tinel’s testing.

Dr. Beard conducted electrodiagnostic studies and found the employee had a shoulder strain and elbow pain/strain.  She found no active neuropathy.  She indicated the employee did have some irritability of the right elbow and Tinel's by description.  She opined the employee’s shoulder pain was likely the result of the biomechanic stress related to the employee's elbow.

Upon Dr. Beard's June 20, 2003 cover letter to Dr. McNamara, Dr. McNamara noted, “Call Pt. ‘ normal studies’ continue plan with Dr. Beard assist.  Returned to work and therapy.”
  

The employee failed to attend his appointment with Alaska Hand Rehabilitation on July 11, 2003.
  On July 16, 2003, Mr. Whitman sent the following note to Dr. McNamara:

Mr. Wegener attended therapy from 6/2/03 to 7/1/03 and has been inconsistent with his therapy attendance.  He last attended therapy on 7/1/03 and has failed to show for his remaining appointments.  Due to inconsistent attendance I have been unable to formally re-evaluate Mr. Wegener.

On November 12, 2003, Dr. Strickland directed that in order to avoid re-aggravation or re-injury, the employee was not to work for one week.  She indicated he would be re-evaluated for return to work on November 19, 2003.  
Dr. Beard wrote to Dr. Strickland on November 14, 2003,  “I have reviewed in the notes and Mr. Wegener was to go to OT; then follow-up with us after we received their reports.  He never went to OT.”

On November 20, 2003, Dr. Strickland completed Attending Doctor’s Return to Work Recommendations.  She indicated the employee was capable of returning to work.  She stated he was able to stand/walk for 6-8 hours, he was able to drive 1-3 hours, he was able to use his feet for repetitive movement as in operating foot controls, and that he was able to bend and squat frequently.  She noted, “Anthony is not to use his right hand.”  Dr. Strickland placed the restrictions in effect until Dr. Beard evaluated the employee.

On November 21, 2003, an x-ray of the employee’s cervical spine revealed slight straightening of the normal curvature consistent with muscle spasm.  The employee had full range of motion with no instability on the flexion extension.  His soft tissue planes appeared normal, and there were no obvious degenerative changes.

X-rays of the employee’s right wrist and right shoulder were taken on December 2, 2003.  The bones, joints and soft tissues of the employee's right wrist were normal.  No arthritic, degenerative, or post-traumatic abnormalities were seen on the employee's right shoulder.

A MRI of the employee's cervical spine was taken on December 4, 2003, and a comparison was made with the 
May 1, 2003 MRI.  The December 4, 2005 MRI revealed that no disc herniations or protrusions were evident.  The employee's neck was flexed at the C-3 -- 4 level, consistent with the prior examination, reducing the CFS space anterior to the cord.  Reason for the flexion was not clear, and thought to be secondary to muscle spasm or employee positioning.

On December 8, 2003, Dr. Beard conducted electrodiagnostic studies.  Dr. Beard noted the employee was originally seen in June of 2003 for right hand numbness, which was thought to be carpal tunnel syndrome, and right shoulder impingement.  She indicated the evaluation was suspicious for impingement of the right shoulder and ulnar neuropathy, but previously, the EDX revealed only mild findings.  She noted the employee was sent to occupational therapy, but he did not attend after symptoms resolved without further treatment.  She reported that in early November, when the employee was lifting tires, he felt a sharp pain in his right wrist, which progressed up his arm and into his neck.

The results of the studies were normal, except amplitude in ulnar itching technique with dropped amplitude in the distal cubital tunnel compared to the proximal cubital tunnel was noted.
  Dr. Beard indicated the EMG was normal.
  Based upon the studies conducted, Dr. Beard’s conclusions were as follows:

1. Mild ulnar neuropathy Right elbow, suspect in the distal aspect of cubital tunnel.

2. Wrist sprain.  Has started therapy but will need MRI of wrist and refer back to Dr. McNamara.

3. Continue with current work duty restrictions as tolerated.  May change following MRI.

4. Shoulder pain/impingement - had MRI previously, though consider repeat given this new injury.

The employee began therapy with Alaska Hand Rehabilitation for exacerbation of right upper extremity pain on December 10, 2003.  The treatment plan called for therapy two to three times per week for four weeks.

An MRI of the employee’s right shoulder and one of his right wrist were taken on December 19, 2003.  The employee’s shoulder revealed prominence and hypertrophy of the soft tissues around the AC joint and a small amount of fluid within the joint itself, indicating some AC joint strain, although there was no frank separation.  The tendons of the employee’s rotator cuff were intact.  The MRI of the employee’s wrist showed no evidence of a tear of the triangular fibrocartilage.  There was no definite osseous or ligamentous abnormalities.
  

Prior to the employee’s appointment with Dr. Beard on January 12, 2004, Mr. Whitman, Alaska Hand Rehabilitation, notified Dr. Beard that the employee attended therapy only six times between December 5, 2003 and January 2, 2004; that therapy attendance was inconsistent; and that he was unable to perform a final 
re-assessment.
  

Dr. Beard’s associate, Deborah Kiley, ANP, saw the employee on January 12, 2004.  She maintained the December 2, 2003 return to work authorization.  The employee was to attend therapy and wear a wrist brace.  The restrictions were placed in effect until the employee was reevaluated on February 12, 2004.

A summary assessment conducted at Alaska Hand Rehabilitation revealed the motion in the employee’s right elbow, wrist, and forearm was full, but hyper-pronation of the right wrist produced increased pain and elicited protective responses from the employee.  Elbow flexion test and Tinel’s were negative for reproduction of parenthesis; however, the employee reported a constant numbness in the ulnar aspect of his right hand.  The employee had met several therapy goals, but continued to have symptoms in his right elbow and wrist.  Therapy was to continue.

Dr. McNamara followed-up with the employee on January 22, 2004, for right elbow symptoms that had been followed by Dr. Beard for impingement, wrist pain and cubital tunnel.  After examination, Dr. McNamara assessed the employee with right elbow cubital tunnel ulnar neuropathy with some decreased sensation of the small finger and some clawing.  He recommended a cubital tunnel decompression to prevent further loss of function, conservative treatment with the triangular fibro cartilage complex (“TFCC”), and further evaluation of the TFCC symptoms as the employee underwent therapy with his elbow.  Dr. McNamara mentioned the employee may require wrist arthroscope to treat the TFCC symptoms.

At the employer’s request, John M. Ballard, M.D., Orthopedic Surgeon, and Richard L. Peterson, D.C., Chiropractic Physician, of The Independent Medical Evaluators (“T.I.M.E.”), conducted an evaluation of the employee on January 23, 2004.  Upon examination, Drs. Ballard and Peterson found no impingement and no crepitus with movement to the employee’s shoulder.  With regard to the employee’s wrist, they found no tenderness over his triangular fibro cartilage complex; they did find some tenderness proximal to the volar aspect of the ulna; but no tenderness over the distal radial ulnar joint, no tenderness in the snuff box, and no tenderness over the employee’s first carpometacarpal joint.  A grind test was negative.  They found no crepitus or locking with movement to the wrist, and no instability was noted.  However, they mentioned that many times during the examination, there was significant facial grimacing with any type of movement, and the employee complained of severe pain to his wrist.  They reported resisting the small finger caused the employee significant pain to the wrist.

Drs. Ballard and Peterson responded to questions posed by the employer.  They were asked their diagnostic impression for the employee’s complaints as they related to his April 1, 2003 workers’ compensation claim.  Drs. Ballard and Peterson responded as follows:

At this time, we do not have a working diagnosis for his current complaints.  He has a multitude of symptoms that do not fit into one working diagnosis.  He has had nerve conduction studies, which do not show any significant compression of his right cubital tunnel.  He has symptoms of numbness in his fingers, which occur when his arm is extended, which in reality should decrease the numbness in his fourth and fifth fingers.  He has normal arm measurements and strength, even though he states that he has not been using his arm to any significant degree.  He has had a normal MRI of his neck and a normal MRI of his shoulder times two.  He also has a normal MRI of his right wrist.  There are not findings on today’s evaluation of any changes in his reflexes or any objective findings.  In essence, we do not have a current objective working diagnosis for the multitude of complaints that he has.  From a historical point of view, he had a work injury on April 1, 2003, in which he had a right shoulder strain, a right cervical strain, and right arm pain with numbness and tingling with no objective explanation.  However, at this time, it is our opinion that those initial injuries that he sustained have resolved.

Drs. Ballard and Peterson provided diagnostic impressions for the employee’s complaints, not related to his workers’ compensation claim.  They indicated that although the employee has unusual physical findings, they are not related to his April 1, 2003 work injury.  They did not have a current diagnosis, with the exception that the employee has an increase carrying-angle on his right arm.  They opined this was not related to his industrial claim.  They noted it was evident from the employee’s medical records that he stopped seeking treatment in July, and did not seek further treatment until November when he simply lifted his arm up and all his symptoms returned. They opined this was not an explanation for the multitude of symptoms the employee continued to have.

Drs. Ballard and Peterson opined no further treatment or referrals were necessary.  Further, they opined the employee reached medical stability on July 15, 2003.  They opined there was no indication of any ratable impairment as it related to the employee’s April 1, 2003 work incident.  Finally, Drs. Ballard and Peterson opined the employee was able to return to his regular job as a carwash attendant as of January 23, 2004; and, as it relates to the employee’s workers’ compensation claim of April 1, 2003, there are no restrictions that need be applied.

Based upon the January 23, 2004 report of Drs. Ballard and Peterson, the employer controverted all benefits on January 27, 2005.

Due to the controversion of the employee’s claim, his remaining therapy appointments were cancelled and he was discharged by Alaska Hand Rehabilitation.

Dr. Beard reviewed the controversion notice, the employee’s clinic notes, and the notes from Dr. McNamara.  Based upon the employee’s history, she did not support the controversion from Dr. Ballard and Dr. Peterson.  She opined a work-related injury did occur.  She recommended the employee follow up with Dr. McNamara and continue with the recommended treatment plan.

At the employee’s request, a physical capacities evaluation (“PCE”) was conducted on October 7, 2004, by John DeCarlo, OTR, of Alaska Spine Institute Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation.  The employee’s behavior profile was completed using Blankenship Guidelines.  The employee had a moderate pain profile; and was at times dramatic in his presentation of his symptoms.  The employee’s validity profile was also completed using Blankenship Guidelines.  Blankenship considers a score of 75 percent or greater a valid PCE where maximal effort was exerted; and a score where 50 percent or more of the criteria is considered to be invalid to be an invalid PCE where submaximal effort was exerted.  The employee’s score of 67 percent fell between Blankenship’s valid and invalid scores and was considered “equivocal, or a partial submaximal effort.

The employee’s performance in the PCE placed him in a light physical demand classification.  He met the strength requirements of both a car wash supervisor and a car wash attendant, automatic, which are rated at light in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles.  Mr. DeCarlo opined the employee’s current level of work corresponds with his physical capacity, and indicated the other duties described by the employee, which are heavier, require strength above the employee’s light strength capacity, and would necessitate the employee receive assistance.

Mr. DeCarlo reported the employee was very dramatic in his pain behavior during the PCE.  He indicated he was equivocal on whether or not symptom exaggeration was present.  Mr. DeCarlo noted the following:

As previously discussed in the summary page, his validity profile score was 67%, which is considered equivocal of partial submaximal effort.  Some of the validity profile activities which were invalid included cogwheel release during manual muscle test or giveaway.  Also in his manual test, in testing of his intrinsics, he presented with a 2/5 muscle grade.  There was an expectation that he would have had greater amount of atrophy in the musculature of the hand.  In addition, it is not possible that he would have been able to lift as much weight as he did, nor demonstrate at least 57 lb of grip strength or 18 lb of key pinch strength with a muscle grade of 2/5.  While there may be some weakness of the hand in grip and pinch, it did not correlate with the 2/5 muscle grade for the hand.  Other invalid performances included coefficients of variation greater than 15% in static strength test including grip, pinch, and chain pull, comparing static strength to occasional material handling (there was an expectation that he would have been able to exert greater force in occasional material handling when compared to his static strength), and movements improving by distraction, i.e., while he was not able to extend his shoulder beyond 25 degrees when his range of motion was being formally tested, he did demonstrate the ability to extend his shoulder well beyond 25 degrees when lifting his shirt up in order to place a heart rate monitor on his chest.

There were, however, other tests, which did present as being maximal effort tests and therefore it does seem appropriate to grade his validity as a partial submaximal effort.

The employee was seen by Robert R. Thomas, M.P.A.S., PA-C, of Alaska Orthopaedic Specialists, on December 9, 2004.  He noted, “I do not appreciate any muscular wasting about his right upper extremity when compared with the left side.”  Mr. Thomas measured the employee’s grip strength on his right hand at 20 pounds and on the left 120 pounds; pinch on the right was 2 pounds, and on the left 30 pounds.  He indicated the employee’s motor and sensory function were intact; and his neurovascular status was intact.
  

Mr. Thomas assessed right elbow ulnar neuropathy and right wrist, probable TFCC complex tear.
  

At the employee’s request, Mr. Thomas wrote a letter addressing the question of “whether or not his injury was related to workman’s comp.”  Mr. Thomas noted:

I support Dr. Beard’s assessment that this is likely a work related injury and most likely occurred as it has been described.  After speaking with Dr. McNamara also he feels again that this is a work related injury and that the patient should be allowed to proceed with surgical intervention and that workman’s comp should cover this for him.

The letter written by Mr. Thomas noted the employee had been seen in the clinic and treated by Dr. McNamara.  He indicated that Dr. Beard felt the employee’s condition is related to a work injury and occurred just as the employee described.  Mr. Thomas indicated that Dr. McNamara agrees with Dr. Beard’s evaluation.  Mr. Thomas opined that the employee’s symptoms had worsened; his grip strength had decreased; and he was demonstrating increased flexion of his right small finger with associated decrease in sensation of that digit.  Mr. Thomas noted that on the examination of December 9, 2004, Dr. McNamara felt the employee demonstrated symptoms of a right TFCC injury, which may need to be addressed surgically.  His recommendations were to proceed with a right elbow cubital tunnel decompression, with a medial epicondylectomy and probable TFCC debridement.

On December 22, 2004, the employee was treated in the Alaska Regional Hospital Emergency Room for right arm pain, shoulder pain, wrist pain and elbow pain.  Donald Hudson, D.O., found a very minimal amount of rhomboid tenderness on the employee’s right side.  Dr. Hudson indicated the employee’s shoulder was not swollen.  
Dr. Hudson found the employee’s olecranon and medial epicondyle were tender, and Tinel’s was negative.  The radial and ulnar pulses were intact.  The employee was able to move all fingers appropriately and his distal capillary refill was normal bilaterally.

II. TESTIMONY OF EMPLOYEE

A. April 13, 2005 Hearing Testimony

Anthony Wegener testified at the hearing.  The employee testified that he followed the doctors’ recommendations for physical therapy.  He testified that his symptoms went away when undergoing therapy.  He testified that treatment was not necessary between July 2003 and November 2003.  He testified that in November of 2003, all symptoms returned.  He testified he was reaching up for a tire and had not touched the tire, when everything exploded in his arm.  The employee testified he has been in constant pain since.

The employee testified that John DeCarlo conducted a physical capacities evaluation in October 2004.  He testified that his child support payments were going up, and that child support enforcement asserted he could work.  He testified he had the physical capacities evaluation to prove he could not work.

The employee testified that he cannot use his right arm.  He testified and demonstrated that he holds his right arm at a 90-degree angle to prevent blood flow into his hand.  He testified that this is part of the cubital tunnel syndrome.  The employee testified that two to three times per week his symptoms are so bad that he tears up.  He testified that he cannot afford drugs, so he takes Advil for pain.  He testified that he sometimes has difficulty writing; and that he has difficulty holding forks and cutting with knives.  

The employee testified he has good days and bad days.  Additionally, he testified that although nothing abnormal shows on the MRIs, each person is different.  The employee testified that not everybody’s issues are revealed on an MRI.  He testified some people’s MRIs appear normal, even though there is a valid condition.  He testified that before he had knee surgery years ago, nothing abnormal showed on the MRI.

The employee testified that he needs surgery so he can return to a normal life style.  He testified that his symptoms all stem from the April 1, 2003 injury and they have been getting worse ever since.

B. Deposition Testimony
The employee’s video deposition was started on March 8, 2005.  The deposition was continued until the next day when the employee testified that he was having a hard time breathing because of cramping and pain.  His deposition was completed on March 9, 2005.  

On March 8, 2005, the employee testified that he holds his arm at a 90-degree angle because it decreases the pain on his bicep and his forearm.  He testified the pain is caused because the bicep and forearm cramp up.  He testified he can extend his arm, but he keeps it at a 90-degree angle because when he extends it, he has problems up into his bicep and his shoulder is affected.  He testified if he keeps his arm at a 90-degree angle, it helps to decrease the swelling in his hand.  

The employee testified that he has not been able to cook for some time because his wrist hurts too bad.  He testified there are times he cannot hold a knife or grab a carton of milk out of the refrigerator with his right hand because it is too heavy.  He testified it is difficult for him to scrub a skillet; he must carry the skillet with his left arm and use his left arm for scrubbing.  He testified it is very hard for him to do anything; and when he reaches for something, his wrist or arm will flare.  He testified that he cannot sit up for an extended period and laying down alleviates his pain.

The employee testified car rides are unenjoyable because he feels every bump in the road.  He testified he is still able to play computer games because he does so with his left hand.  

He testified he is unable to work.  The employee testified the last time he worked was in December 2004, and he was only able to put in a few hours per day

The deposition resumed on March 9, 2005.  The employee testified he gets cramping that causes pain in his right arm, in the wrist, elbow and forearm and that he constantly has a burning sensation in the back of his shoulder, because they are all interconnected.  He testified that is why his two fingers curl up, that they are always like that, and that they always tingle.  He testified he can extend them out, but it does not feel good.  He testified the tingling sometimes runs into his entire hand.

The employee testified he is right-hand dominant.  He testified that quite often he has to put his food down and forget about eating it right away or switch to his left hand to finish his meal because there are times when he cannot operate his fork.  

The employee testified he cannot ride a bicycle and he cannot hike.  He testified that when he reads, he can only hold a book for 10 minutes.  He testified that he has not tried to go fishing since his injury and does not think he can fish because he will be unable to cast the line.  He testified other things he cannot do include rough housing the kids, tying his shoes, using his right hand to put his socks on, combing his hair, shaving, and playing basketball.  He testified that it is difficult to take a shower and he uses an automatic toothbrush.

The employee testified that he went back to work after the April 1, 2003 hit and run accident.  He testified that in November 2003 he was pain free and was doing tire changeovers and in showing a new employee where tires were stored, he was reaching up and above his head to a tire and felt extreme pain.  The employee testified after a few days, he went back to work and noticed that when reaching for things or twisting he felt pain.  He testified he was not trying to hurt himself and mentally, he was not doing it on purpose to hurt himself.  

The employee testified he has become more and more limited since December 2004.  He testified the most physical thing he has done since December 2004 is take showers.  He testified he cannot carry groceries with his right arm.  He testified he can pick up a cup of coffee and drink it, but he is afraid to pick up anything because his wrist hurts a lot.  

The employee testified on his best day, he can take a shower, shave, and cook something; on his worst day he does hardly anything and just moving is a chore.  The employee testified that when he attempts to grasp something his hand cramps up, causing him grimacing, grunting and groaning in pain. 

III. NORTHERN INVESTIGATIVE ASSOCIATES VIDEO OF ANTHONY WEGENER

A surveillance video of the employee taken on March 9, 12 and 13, 2005, depicts the employee engaged in several different activities.  On March 9, 2005, the Board observed the employee walking into a building carrying a large book with his left hand, while his right arm hung fully extended down to his side.  The employee did not hold his arm at a right angle.  On March 12, 2005, the video shows the employee at a restaurant.  The employee goes outside the restaurant to smoke a cigarette.  While outside, the employee does not hold his arm at a right angle, nor are the fourth and fifth digits of his right hand in a claw position.  The employee is seen raising his arm up and down to smoke his cigarette.  When his arm is down, it is fully extended.  The employee is shown sitting sideways at a bar in the restaurant, with his left side closest to the bar.  The employee is sitting on a high stool and appears to have his feet resting on a rung.  The employee’s right arm is resting on the top of his right leg.  The fingers of his right hand can be seen fully extended on his knee; the fingers are not in a claw position.  The employee is also shown eating his meal with chopsticks.  The employee uses his right hand and arm to manipulate the chopsticks, and is able to do so in a very rapid fashion.  The employee’s fourth and fifth fingers are fully extended along the chopsticks.  No clawing is evident.  While in the restaurant, the employee did not hold his arm at a right angle.  The employee is also shown on March 13, 2005 walking with another gentleman.  The employee’s right arm hung fully extended to his side.  His third, fourth and fifth fingers on his right hand appeared to be clawed.  

IV. MEDICAL EVIDENCE AFTER APRIL 13, 2005

A. Dr. Ballard’s April 22, 2005 Addendum Report

Based upon the Board’s order, Dr. Ballard reviewed additional medical records, the employee’s March 8, 2005 deposition, and the videotape dated March 9, 2005, introduced at the April 13, 2005 hearing.  Dr. Ballard responded to questions posed by the employer.  

Dr. Ballard described ulnar neuropathy as follows:

Ulnar neuropathy is a condition in which the ulnar nerve is injured as it crosses the elbow just behind the medial epicondyle.  The nerve may be injured due to subluxation or dislocation of the nerve program the medial epicondyle were it may becoming trapped, causing increased pressure on the nerve.

The condition of ulnar neuropathy will cause numbness and tingling in the fourth and fifth fingers of the hand on both the volar and dorsal surfaces.  Typically, it is made worse when the elbow is flexed, causing increased pressure upon the nerve.  It is relieved when the elbow is extended.  Also, at times tapping from the nerve can cause pain to shoot down the forearm to the fourth and fifth fingers.

Dr. Ballard indicated that the employee's clinical examination was not consistent with a true ulnar neuropathy.  
Dr. Ballard noted that the employee did not have radiation of pain to palpation about the medial aspect of his elbow and, in fact, complained of increased symptoms with his arm extended, when in reality a true ulnar neuropathy should cause increased symptoms when the employee's elbow is flexed.  While the employee may have subjective paresthesias in his fourth and fifth fingers, Dr. Ballard found inconsistencies in the employee's clinical examination, and based upon the minimal nerve conduction findings, Dr. Ballard opined that a true ulnar neuropathy could not be diagnosed.

For a true ulnar neuropathy, according to Dr. Ballard, characteristically, one would note a positive percussion test; when the ulnar nerve is tapped just beyond the medial epicondyle, the individual with characteristically have radiating pain into the fourth and fifth fingers and the symptoms will be worse with the elbow fully flexed.  In addition, Dr. Ballard indicated individuals typically have diagnostic studies conclusive of compression of the ulnar nerve across the elbow.  He indicated symptoms were consistently worse at night and with the elbow flexed.  In severe cases, he indicated individuals would have clawing and atrophy of the muscle innervated by the ulnar nerve.  

Dr. Ballard opined that the employee’s symptoms are not truly consistent with an ulnar neuropathy because he does not have symptoms at night and symptoms are made worse with his elbow extended when, in fact, they should be made worse with his elbow flexed.  Further, Dr. Ballard noted that the employee did not have shooting pain down his fourth and fifth fingers with tapping on his ulnar nerve.  In the employee's case, the only symptom 
Dr. Ballard noted, consistent with ulnar neuropathy, was paresthesias in the fourth and fifth fingers.  Dr. Ballard indicated that the other diagnostics were not present.

Dr. Ballard reviewed the EMG/nerve conduction studies and opined that the difference in the amplitude was normal and not sufficient to warrant surgery.  He opined that more importantly was the decrease in the nerve conduction velocity, which was entirely normal.  Dr. Ballard opined that based upon the nerve conduction studies, there is no diagnostic indication for cubital tunnel syndrome.

Dr. Ballard described the inconsistencies between the complaints the employee shared with Dr. Ballard, the employee’s deposition testimony and the surveillance videotape as follows:

Mr. Wegener described symptoms to his wrist which hurts everywhere.  If he turns the just right reaches for something, it will grab.  He described trouble reaching for glass of water.  He has trouble writing his name.

On examination, when we saw him, he did not want to use his right arm or right arm to any significant degree.

This certainly is different from the surveillance video that I was able to review which showed him walking normally, using his right hand to open a door at times and carry objects.  When he was eating, he was using chopsticks with both his right and left hand and was holding items.  He did not seem to have any problems using his right upper extremity, which is much different from the way that he presented on examination.  In his deposition he stated he had to keep his elbow at 90 degrees.  However, the surveillance video shows him walking normally at times with his elbow extended.  He also stated that he could not hold a knife, yet the video shows him using chopsticks without difficulty.

In fact, when we have him do internal rotation and external rotation of his shoulder, he would drop his right arm many times because of significant pain to his elbow.  He was noted in the surveillance video to be in a similar position with chopsticks and with no evidence of pain - another difference between our examination and the surveillance video.

Also, during our examination, there are many times when there was significant facial grimacing with any type of movement to his wrist.  Noticing the surveillance video, Mr. Wegener many times moved his wrist, using the chopsticks with no significant pain.

Certainly, in reviewing his comments on his capabilities in his deposition, those are different than the surveillance video in which he was using his right upper extremity freely.  There certainly are discrepancies and inconsistencies between the way Mr. Wegener presented on his examination and the way he presented in his deposition and those findings noted on his surveillance video.

It was noted in the deposition a couple of times Mr. Wegener had such an incredible amount of pain just sitting there that he had to have the deposition stopped.  This certainly is different from the surveillance video in which he is sitting and walking with no obvious problems.  It is very unusual, if someone truly does have an ulnar neuropathy, that their symptoms are made worse with sitting and not using their arms.  This is another inconsistency in which Mr. Wegener's subjective complaints of pain are not supported by objective findings.

Dr. Ballard opined that the employee does not have a TFCC complex care.  Dr. Ballard based his opinion upon the employee's clinical examination, which did not reveal pain in the area of the triangular fibrocartilage complex.  Further, Dr. Ballard noted that reviewing the medical records of the employee’s May 2003 examination by 
Dr. McNamara, there was no mention of symptoms about the employee's wrist.  Dr. Ballard opined that, therefore, from a historical point of view the employee did not have the triangular fibrocartilage tear in May 2003.  Dr. Ballard opined that as of April 2005, the employee’s history was not compatible with a TFCC tear, and more importantly, his physical examination did not correlate with a TFCC tear.

Dr. Ballard opined that the objective findings on physical exam were not consistent with the employee’s complaints; that there was no correlation between the physical exam and the subjective complaints of pain; that the symptoms of cubital tunnel should be made worse with elbow flexion, but in the employee’s case his symptoms are worse with elbow extension.  Dr. Ballard indicated that he could not provide a diagnosis which would explain all of the employee’s symptomology.

Dr. Ballard opined there is no diagnosable condition related to the employee’s April 1, 2003 work incident.  
Dr. Ballard pointed out that the MRIs of the employee’s neck and shoulder were normal and electrodiagnostic evaluation of the employee’s elbow was minimal.  Dr. Ballard opined that the employee has the ability to function at a much higher level than described in the employee’s subjective complaints of pain, based upon the surveillance video.  Additionally, Dr. Ballard relied upon the physical capacities evaluation in which the employee failed the criteria for validity.

Considering all of the factors, Dr. Ballard opined that the employee suffered a soft tissue injury, which should have resolved; and that the employee has ongoing subjective complaints of pain without a physiological basis.

B. May 16, 2005 Deposition of Dr. McNamara

Pursuant to the Board’s April 27, 2005 order, Dr. McNamara was provided with the October 7, 2004 physical capacities evaluation, and the surveillance videotape.  Dr. McNamara’s deposition was taken on May 6, 2005.  

Dr. McNamara testified that flexion of the arm increases the symptoms of ulnar neuropathy, and extension of the arm should relieve the symptoms.  Dr. McNamara testified that if the nerve was scarred down enough, extension could cause symptoms.  He testified that it is not a hard and fast rule but, typically, symptoms are worse with flexion and that a positive elbow flexion is one of the tests for cubital tunnel.  According to Dr. McNamara, if one with cubital tunnel flexes their elbow, they stretch the nerve and get more numbness and tingling in the fingers.

Dr. McNamara testified that most commonly in his practice he sees cubital tunnel developing as a slow, insidious onset from repeated trauma to the elbow.  He testified, however, there are two common causes of cubital tunnel.  Dr. McNamara testified one is traumatic injury, such as when someone takes a fall on his or her elbow.  The other, he testified, is repeated trauma.  He also testified that inflammation, such as occurs in someone with rheumatoid arthritis, diabetes, and thyroid problems, can cause compression on the nerve and create cubital tunnel.  
Dr. McNamara testified that cubital tunnel is not a degenerative process.

Dr. McNamara testified that Dr. Beard used the inching technique to measure the amplitude of the employee’s distal cubital tunnel.  He testified this method is used to determine whether there is compression of the nerve and the location of the compression.
  Dr. McNamara testified, however, that exam findings are more valuable than nerve conduction or EMG studies.  Dr. McNamara testified that a normal exam is one where the nerve does not hurt at all and there is no history of numbness or tingling.  In the employee’s case, Dr. McNamara testified that if someone is complaining of tingling or pain, it is supportive of a cubital tunnel diagnosis.  He testified there is no way to measure pain.  Further, he testified there is no way to measure tingling, other than numbness based upon two point discrimination; and if two point discrimination is increased, the nerve injury is significant.  He testified, in the employee’s case, there was increased two point discrimination.  Dr. McNamara testified that the results of the employee’s EMG studies indicated there was some nerve compression at the elbow.  

Dr. McNamara testified that the ulnar nerve controls all of the intrinsic muscles of the hand to allow for the detailed fine work the hand accomplishes.  He testified that true strength and dexterity could be related to the ulnar nerve.

Dr. McNamara testified that he was unaware that the employee holds and carries his arm at a 90-degree angle.  He testified he was unaware the employee has difficulty holding forks and cutting with knives, but that those difficulties would be typical for a cubital tunnel or an ulnar neuropathy.  Dr. McNamara testified that if the employee has difficulty holding a fork or knife, he would expect him to have difficulty holding chopsticks.

Dr. McNamara testified that he would reconsider his surgical recommendation if a patient presented with severe limitations that disappeared when the patient left his office.  The surveillance video was played for Dr. McNamara.  He was asked to contrast the activities he observed the employee engaging in on the video with the employee’s testimony that he has to hold his right arm at a 90-degree angle at all times, and that reaching out with his arms causes excruciating pain.  Dr. McNamara responded that he does not question that the employee was exaggerating before the Board and in giving deposition testimony.  Further, Dr. McNamara testified that, given these inconsistencies, it would cause him to re-evaluate his surgical recommendation.  Dr. McNamara testified he would not recommend surgery without additional objective data.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
The employee requests the Board order a SIME and the employer opposes the employee’s request asserting a medical dispute between the employee’s physician and employer’s medical examiner does not exist.

AS 23.30.095(k) provides, in part:

In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation . . . or compensability between the employee's attending physician and the employer's independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board.  The cost of an examination and medical report shall be paid by the employer.  The report of an independent medical examiner shall be furnished to the board and to the parties within 14 days after the examination is concluded.

The legislature has granted the Board the authority to order a second independent medical evaluation (“SIME”) to assist us in our decision-making process.  AS 23.30.095(k) provides, in pertinent part:

In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation, medical stability, ability to enter a reemployment plan, degree of impairment, functional capacity, the amount and efficacy of the continuance of or necessity of treatment, or compensability between the employee's attending physician and the employer's independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board.

When deciding whether to order a SIME evaluation, the Board looks at the following factors:

1. Is there a medical dispute between the employee’s attending physician and the [employer’s] physician;

2. Is the dispute significant; and

3. Would an SIME physician’s opinion assist the Board in resolving the dispute?

In the instant matter, the Board finds the employee’s physician recommended surgery; however, changed his mind after having an opportunity to view the surveillance video and review the employee’s deposition testimony and physical capacities evaluation.  The decision regarding whether to order a SIME is discretionary.
  The Board finds that a SIME opinion would not assist the Board in resolving the disputes at hand.  The Board finds that currently a medical dispute does not exist between the employee’s attending physician and the employer’s physician, as neither one recommends surgery.  The Board will rely on the medical evidence and other evidence in the file and produced at hearing.  Accordingly, the Board denies the employee’s petition for a SIME at this time.


ORDER

The employee’s request for a SIME is denied and dismissed.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on September 28, 2005.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 
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� AWCB Decision No. 05-0116, (April 27, 2005).


� 4/2/03 Report of Occupational Injury or Illness.


� 4/2/03 Alaska Regional Hospital, Emergency Room Note, Jeff Baurick, M.D.


� Id.


� 4/4/03 Chart Note, Alaska Health Care Clinic, Betty Bang, F.N.P. 


� 4/7/03 Physician’s Report, Betty Bang, F.N.P.


� 4/8/03 Cervical Spine, Thoracic Spine, Lumbar Spine X-Rays Report, Harold F. Cable, M.D.


� 4/16/03 Physician's Report, Dr. Strickland.


� Id.


� Magnetic Resonance Image.


� 4/22/03 MRI Report, Alaska Regional Diagnostic Imaging, Lawrence P. Wood, M.D.


� 4/29/03 X-ray Report, Alaska Regional Diagnostic Imaging, David Esmail, M.D.


� 5/1/03 Cervical Spine MRI Report, John J. McCormick, M.D.


� 5/27/03 Consultation Report, Dr. McNamara.


� Id.


� 6/2/03 and 6/5/03 Initial Evaluation, Alaska Hand Rehabilitation, Marc Whitman, PT, CHT, at 1.


� 6/19/03 Electrodiagnostic Results, Rehabilitation & Sports Medicine, Dr. Beard.


� 6/20/03 Cover Letter from Dr. Beard to Dr. McNamara, with Dr. McNamara's note.


� 7/11/03 Treatment Notes, Alaska Hand Rehabilitation.


� 7/16/04 Facsimile from Marc Whitman, Alaska Hand Rehabilitation, to Dr. McNamara.


� 11/14/03 Letter to Dr. Strickland from Dr. Beard.


� 11/19/03 Attending Doctor’s Return to Work Recommendations, Dr. Strickland.


� 11/21/03 Cervical Spine X-ray Report, Harold F. Cable, M.D.


� 12/2/03 Right Wrist and Right Shoulder X-ray Report, John J. McCormick, M.D.


� 12/4/03 MRI cervical spine Report, Julee K. Holayter, M.D.


� 12/8/03 Electrodiagnostic Results Report, Dr. Beard at 1.


� Id. at 2.


� Id. 


� Id. at 2.


� 12/19/03 MRI Report, Harold Cable, M.D.


� 1/12/04 Facsimile to Dr. Beard from Alaska Hand Rehabilitation, Marc Whitman, PT, CHT.


� 1/12/04 Return to Work Recommendation, Deborah Kiley, ANP.


� 1/20/04 Progress Note, Alaska Hand Rehabilitation, Marc Whitman, PT, CHT.


� 1/22/04 Chart Note, Dr. McNamara.


� 1/23/04 Employer’s Independent Medical Evaluation Report, Drs. Ballard and Peterson at 9.


� Id. at 10-11.


� Id. at 11.


� Id. at 11-12.


� 1/27/05 Controversion Notice.


� 2/6/04 Discharge Note, Alaska Hand Rehabilitation, Marc Whitman, PT, CHT.


� 2/27/04 Letter to Anthony Wegener from Dr. Beard.


� 10/7/04 Physical Capacities Evaluation, Alaska Spine Institute Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, John DeCarlo, OTR at 1.


� Id. at 2.


� Id. at 10.


� 12/9/04 Chart Note, Robert Thomas, M.P.A.S., PA-C.


� Id.


� Id.


� 12/9/04 Letter of Whom It May Concern from Robert R. Thomas, Alaska Orthopaedic Specialists, Inc.


� 12/22/04 Alaska Regional Hospital Emergency Room Report, Dr. Hudson.


� 4/22/05 T.I.M.E. Addendum Report, Dr. Ballard at 6.


� Id.


� Id at 7. 


� Id. at 7-8.


� Id. at 9.


� Id.


� Id. at 10.


� Id.


� Id.


� Dr. McNamara later testified, when asked to answer the question, “What is the ulnar inching technique?” that he would have to defer to Dr. Beard to describe it since that is her specialty, but that it is an attempt to try and better isolate if there is a compression and where.


� Deal v. Municipality of Anchorage (ATU), AWCB Interlocutory Decision No. 97-0165 at 3 (July 23, 1997).  See also, Schmidt v. Beeson Plumbing and Heating, AWCB Decision No. 91-0128 (May 2, 1991).


� AS 23.30.095(k).
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